IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00575

R	R	A	DI	LE:	Υ	1	SU	\mathbf{ID}	DI	Ή
·						υ.	\sim		_	

APPELLANT

VS.

MELISSA MOWDY

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of the Twelfth Chancery Court District, Lauderdale County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, BRADLEY SUDDUTH

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

Prepared by:

THOMAS G. BITTICK,

MS Bar No.

Cutturini & Bittick, P.L.L.C.

2698 23rd Avenue

Meridian, MS 39301

601-693-0959

601-693-0102 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

BRADLEY SUDDUTH

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00575

BRADLEY J. SUDDUTH

APPELLANT

VS.

MELISSA MOWDY

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

Whether the chancellor's finding that Hannah Sudduth was not adversely affected by her mother's unstable home was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous, where in her Mother's care, among other things: Hannah's teeth were allowed to rot; Hannah was given a powerful anti-psychotic drug not FDA approved for children; Hannah witnessed her mother being abused while Hannah and her mother lived with her mother's boyfriend; and where after Hannah had lived with her father for twenty months, her mother caused Hannah great stress by violating court orders and keeping the young child from visiting her father for up to six weeks at a time.

ISSUE TWO

Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Brad Sudduth's Rule 59 motion for a new trial on the grounds of newly-discovered evidence, where Hannah's report card for the semester reflected a dramatic downturn in school performance, such that Hannah could not pass the first grade; and where the trial court had relied on prior report cards, over Brad and his wife Kathleen's testimony that Hannah was not doing well in school.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 9-4-3 (2007).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Brad Sudduth and Melissa Mowdy were married on March 6, 1999. Hannah Renee Sudduth was born to the couple on October 2, 1999. Brad and Melissa were divorced pursuant to a judgment rendered on September 20, 2000. Following the divorce, the parties shared joint legal custody of Hannah, with Melissa having physical custody. Pursuant to the agreement, Brad enjoyed very liberal visitation, including "[a]Il days that [Brad] [had] off from work."

In December, 2003, the parties agreed that Hannah should live with Brad, and a Joint Motion to Modify Child Support and Other Relief was agreed to, approved by the trial court and rendered on December 31, 2003. The agreement provided that it "did not modify the physical custody of the minor child," but did terminate Brad's child support obligation.

On August 8, 2005, Melissa filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which was granted by the trial court on August 11, 2005, and Hannah was returned to Melissa. On August 9, 2005, Brad initiated this action with a Complaint to Modify Custody and Other Relief, in which he alleged that there had been a material change of circumstances since the September, 2000 judgment that adversely affected Hannah, and that the best interests of the child required a change of custody.

On August 17, 2005, Brad filed a Complaint for Contempt, Modification, and Other Relief. On September 6, 2005, Melissa filed an Answer and Counterclaim for Contempt, and also filed an Answer and Counterclaim. On March 2, 2006, Melissa filed a Complaint for Contempt and Modification. The trial would ultimately decide the issues arising from these five petitions.

On September 6, 2005, an interim order was approved by both parties and rendered by the trial court; on October 6, 2005, an agreed temporary settlement was agreed upon; an Agreed Temporary Judgment was approved and rendered on November 18, 2005; and on March 6, 2006, another approved order was rendered.

On May 1, 2006, Chancellor Sarah P. Springer rendered an Agreed Order of Recusal on May 1, 2006, and Chancellor Jerry G. Mason accepted the case for final adjudication. On June 19, 2006, the trial court set a pretrial conference for August 18, 2006, where the trial was scheduled for September 13, 14, and 15, 2006. The trial was not completed after three days, and a fourth and final day of trial was completed on December 11, 2006. On February 2, 2007, the trial court issued a fifty-three-page memorandum opinion, which found a material change of circumstances, but asserted that Brad had failed to show that change adverse to the welfare of his child, Hannah.

On February 6, 2007, Brad filed a Motion for Relief Pursuant to Rule 60 and Rule 59, which asserted that Hannah's report card for the Fall, 2006 semester. Brad argued that the report card, which showed that Hannah was failing the first grade, amounted to newly-discovered evidence that warranted a new trial under Rule 59. On March 9, 2007, the trial court denied Brad's motion. Aggrieved, Brad filed this appeal.

B. Statement of the Facts

Following the parties' divorce, Brad married Kathleen Sudduth, who he has remained with to the present day. (R. at 398) (RE 5) Melissa, on the other hand, saw a succession of men. Identified at trial were her stepbrother, Rod (R. at 402) (RE 73) who Melissa may or may not have been engaged to; Ray Beaudoin, who Melissa was engaged to marry, and abused Melissa in Hannah's presence during the nine months Melissa cohabitated with him (R. at 403-404) (RE

7-8); Rod, again (R. at 403) (RE 7); Julio (R. at 404) (RE 8); Robert (R. at 404) (RE 8), who Melissa was also engaged to marry; James (R. at 405) (RE 9); and T-Bone (R. at 405) (RE 9).

Following the divorce, the parties lived very close to each other in Meridian. (R. at 398) (RE 5) Owing to the liberal terms of his visitation, Hannah spent "usually every weekend from Thursday night to Sunday" with Brad, as well as holidays, and any other day Brad had off from work. (R. at 413) (RE 14). This pattern of visitation was not interrupted when Melissa suddenly moved from Meridian to Oxford, taking \$30,000 from a joint bank account she shared with Ray Beaudoin. (R. at 303-304) (RE 1-2). In Oxford, Melissa spent the money quickly and remained unemployed for six months; when Ray's money ran out, she lived off Brad's child support, and began working one night a week at a local restaurant. (Tr. IV, 592-94).

When Hannah's teeth began coming in, Melissa noticed that the child's teeth had "little chunks missing." (Tr. V, 638). However, she never took the child to the dentist. The decay advanced, and when Brad and Kathleen confronted Melissa about it, Melissa told them that no dentist in Meridian would accept Medicaid. (Tr. IV, 582-83). Brad and Kathleen secured an appointment for Hannah in Jackson, scheduled at the first available date, which was several months later; but sometime between December, 2002, and April, 2003, Melissa allowed Hannah's Medicaid coverage to lapse. (Tr. IV, 582). Brad and Kathleen were forced to cancel the first appointment because of the coverage lapse, but Melissa did not reinstate it in time for the second appointment, which Brad and Kathleen paid for out of pocket because of the advanced state of Hannah's tooth decay-- the teeth were described as black, rotten, and broken off like fangs. (Tr. I, 35, Tr. II, 264). After Brad personally delivered the Medicaid papers to Melissa, Hannah's coverage was restored and the child's teeth-- with ten cavities in all-- were finally restored when Brad and Kathleen took her to the dentist. (Tr. II, 268-71).

A few months after Hannah's teeth were repaired, and about ten months after Melissa's flight to Oxford, a series of events transpired that led to Hannah returning home to Meridian to live with Brad in December, 2003. Depending on whose version of events is followed, Hannah either got out of control and attacked Melissa in a J.C. Penny's, after which Brad agreed to take her full time (Tr. III, 308); or Melissa decided to go back to school and the J.C. Penny's event was a simple misunderstanding where Melissa accidentally "slung" the child across the floor while trying to reprimand her for biting¹ (Tr. V, 610). The facts are undisputed, however, that shortly thereafter, Melissa gave Hannah Risperdal, a potent anti-psychotic drug, intended for adults, that's been recognized as useful in controlling out-of-control children. (Tr. V, 679-80.)

After this, Hannah came to live with Brad and Kathleen for the next twenty months. (Tr. III, 411-13). Melissa enjoyed regular visitation with her daughter, with the longest such visit lasting one week. (R. at 412) (RE 13). Brad and Kathleen never asked Melissa for child support (R. at 411) (RE 12), even when they kept Melissa's other daughter, Destiny, for the summer of 2005 (R. at 411) (RE 12).

After the Habeas Corpus proceedings on August, 11, 2005, Brad returned Hannah to Melissa. (Tr. III, 413-14). Melissa kept Hannah from seeing Brad for a month after that, because she insisted on a more limited visitation agreement. (R. at 415) (RE 18). Melissa again denied Brad's visitation on November 11, 2005 (R. at 416) (RE 19). She also stopped answering his phone calls except when required to do so by the new visitation agreement. (Tr. V, 660-61). When Melissa would allow Hannah visitation with her father, the child would hysterically resist being returned to Melissa (R. at 422-23) (RE 23-24), and Melissa began sending Hannah to a counselor (R. at 420-21) (RE 21-22). Melissa's response to Hannah's

¹ In fairness, Melissa did return to school about six weeks later. (R. at 410.) (RE 11).

stress was to keep her from seeing her father for six weeks, denying Hannah visitation on February 17, 2006, and March 3, 2006.

The trial court did not permit Hannah to testify, and testimony was proffered for her (see Tr. III, IV, 444-58). The trial court subsequently found a material change of circumstances, but no adverse effect upon the child. A few days after the trial was concluded, Hannah's report card for the first half of her first-grade year was issued, and it showed a dramatic decline in her academic performance. (R. at 476) (RE 36). Among other bad marks, Hannah received a 42% for the semester in Reading-- making a 70% average for the year (as is required to advance to the next grade) nearly impossible. (R. at 476) (RE 36). The final comment asked Melissa to "Please make sure that she is doing what is expected of her to do at home." (R. at 476) (RE 36).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court rightly found that a material change of circumstances had occurred, but that the Court decision that the material change was not adverse to the child was clearly erroneous or a manifestly wrong. This is especially true when one considers that the child's teeth had been allowed to rot under the watch of the custodial parent – her mother. It is also true that the decision was clearly erroneous or manifestly wrong when one considers that the child was witness to months of abuse of her mother at the hands of one of the many men that her mother had cohabitated with. It was also error considering that the child was given a powerful anti-psychotic in that interim period. Finally the ruling was in error when one considers that the child, after having lived for twenty consecutive months with her father, was caused considerable harm by her mother's refusal to comply with Court ordered visitation without any justifiable reason – which caused the child such anxiety and stress that she had to undergo counseling.

The Court's ruling that the Rule 59 motion for a new trial was denied was an abuse of discretion. The Rule 59 motion centered around the fact that new evidence had come to light after the close of the trial. This evidence meets all four parts of the test for consideration since it could not have been discovered in time for the trial, but was found in time to be considered for a rule 59 motion. Further, the information was material and the contribution to this case would have such that a new trial would have produced a different or new result.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

ISSUE ONE:

THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING THAT MELISSA'S UNSTABLE HOME ENVIRONMENT DID NOT ADVERSELY IMPACT THE CHILD WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

A. General law

Our Supreme Court summarized the applicable law for custody modification proceedings as follows:

[T]he non-custodial party must prove: (1) that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the custody decree; (2) that this change adversely affects the child's welfare; and (3) that the child's best interests mandate a change of custody.

Bubac v. Boston, 600 So. 2d 951, 955 (Miss. 1992).

B. The lower court's findings

Relevant to this assignment of error, the chancellor found a material change of circumstances, including that:

[Brad] is married to Kathleen Sudduth, [Melissa] lived with Ray Beaudoin in 2002 and early 2003 in the same mobile home park in which [Brad] lived, [Melissa] moved to Oxford, Mississippi, in February 2003, Hannah lived with [Brad] and Kathleen from December, 2003, to August, 2005 . . . [Melissa] has had a relationship with the several boyfriends and/or male companions as previously summarized in the Opinion.

(R. at 433-34) (RE 26). The chancellor nonetheless found this material change of circumstances was not adverse to the welfare of Hannah:

[Melissa] denies that she has participated in a sexual relationship with any of the boyfriends in the presence of Hannah, except for Ray Beaudoin. [Brad] did not initiate any action to remove Hannah from the environment in which Hannah lived with her mother and Ray Beaudoin. [Melissa] recognizes that she should not expose Hannah to any inappropriate relationship with a male person. Her previous actions are not condoned by this Court. Notwithstanding that [Brad] and [Melissa] have different positions about the Agreed Order Modifying Child Support rendered on December 31, 2003, the adjudication relevant to child custody is definite. The physical custody of Hannah was not changed. Although [Brad] had complaints about [Melissa] as a competent mother before August, 2005, the evidence is undisputed that they communicated and coordinated well about matters relevant to Hannah. That mutual communication and coordination terminated in August, 2005. Hannah has manifested stress since August, 2005, and her conduct has sometimes between inappropriate, especially at the time of exchange in April, 2006. Although Hannah received counseling for some undetermined length of time in early 2006, the diagnosis and treatment, if any, were not developed. The evidence does not develop the reason for Hannah's inappropriate conduct from January 2006, through April, 2006.

(R. at 434) (RE 27). The lower court concluded that "[Brad] has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence a material change in circumstances . . . that are [sic] adverse to the welfare of Hannah Sudduth." (R. at 435) (RE 28)

C. Standard of review

Mississippi law sets a generally high bar for appellate review of a chancellor's decisions on modification of custody; such decisions are not to be upset "unless the chancellor abused his direction, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied."

Denson v. George, 642 So. 2d 909, 913 (Miss. 1994). This Court should not sit as reviewing chancellors, but "[that] does not mean [it] should leave [its] common sense at home."

Kavanaugh v. Carraway, 435 So. 2d 697, 700 (Miss. 1983).

² This is a curious comment for the lower court to make, as cohabitation "in and of itself" is not considered an adverse material change in circumstances. <u>Sullivan v. Stringer</u>, 736 So. 2d 514, 517 ¶ 17 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). The trial court even cited <u>Kavanaugh v. Carraway</u>, 435 So. 2d 697, 700-701 (Miss. 1983), for substantially the same proposition. (R. at 426-27.) (RE 25-25A).

Unlike the more usual issues in a custody modification review, this Court is not today asked to review a chancellor's balancing of eleven factors to decide the best interest of a child. Nor is it asked to undertake an intensive review of just what makes a change of circumstances "material." This assignment of error hinges instead on the relatively straightforward question of whether the material change of circumstances that the trial court found was adverse to the child, an issue that lends itself better to the "common sense" review that this Court must undertake.

D. The child, Hannah, was adversely affected by Melissa's unstable home

The evidence presented at trial, including Melissa's admissions, establishes well beyond a preponderance of the evidence that Hannah suffered emotional, mental, moral, and even physical harm as a result of her mother's unstable household. The chancellor's finding that Hannah suffered no such adverse effects was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous.

In determining whether a material change of circumstances warrants modification of custody, adverse effects must be shown. <u>Bubac v. Boston</u>, 600 So. 2d 951, 955 (Miss.1992). In <u>Forsythe v. Akers</u>, the Court of Appeals discussed just which effects must be considered:

[T]here are many things looked at in deciding whether or not a material change has occurred, such as health, willingness of the parent, employment, parenting skills, moral fitness, physical and mental health of the child, school record of the child, and . . . those factors are to be looked at in a totality of circumstances.

768 So. 2d 943, ¶11 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing <u>Albright v. Albright</u>, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983) and <u>Riley v. Doerner</u>, 677 So. 2d 740, 743 (Miss. 1996)). At trial, Brad proved numerous adverse effects upon Hannah by a preponderance of the evidence, many of which were acknowledged in the lower court's recitation of the facts or by Melissa's own admissions at trial.

i. Hannah was adversely affected by Melissa's numerous inappropriate relationships since the divorce

Following the parties' divorce and the initial adjudication of custody on September 20, 2000, Melissa began an intimate relationship with her stepbrother, Rod. (R. at 402) (RE 73). The length of the initial affair was not developed at trial, but Rod did on some occasions stay with Melissa while Hannah was present, including at least one occasion where Melissa and her stepbrother slept in the same bed. (R. at 402) (RE 73). After Rod moved to Florida, Melissa traveled to Florida and stayed with him four or five times. (R. at 402) (RE 73). Melissa denied allegations that she and Rod were ever engaged to be married. (R. at 403) (RE 7).

After Rod, Melissa cohabitated with Ray Beaudoin, who she was engaged to marry (Tr. IV, 572), for eight or nine months beginning in 2002; Hannah lived with them as well.³ (R. at 403) (RE 7). Ray was physically and emotionally abusive to Melissa while Hannah was present. (R. at 403) (RE 7). Melissa eventually left Ray's home, suddenly taking \$30,000 from a joint bank account and moving three and one-half hours from Meridian to Oxford. (R. at 403-404) (RE 7-8). Upon arriving in Oxford, Melissa spent much of the money on a car and prepaid rent. (R. at 404.) (RE 8). Ray later filed a civil suit to recover his money, which Melissa, having spent the money, settled for \$6000 to be repaid starting in 2007. (R. at 404) (RE 8). After moving to Oxford, Melissa resumed her relationship with her stepbrother Rod; though she visited him twice in Florida, it apparently did not rise to the level of "dating." (R. at 403) (RE 7).

Melissa was unemployed for six months after arriving in Oxford in February, 2003. (R. at 406-07) (RE 74-75). Melissa then began working one night a week at a restaurant; during this time, she sustained herself and her family with Brad's child support and the remnants of the money she had taken from Ray. (Tr. IV, 592-94). After moving to Oxford, Melissa saw a

³ According to the trial court's recitation of the facts, Hannah "usually" stayed with Brad on weekends (R. at 403) (RE 7), but Melissa testified that Brad had her "every weekend" during the eight or nine months she was cohabitating with Ray, and that Brad would also take Hannah "when he would get off" during the workweek (Tr. IV, 574).

succession of men. First was Julio, who she saw for "one to two months." Melissa stayed overnight with Julio and he stayed overnight with her, but Melissa testified that Hannah was not present except on a single occasion, where she, Hannah, and Melissa's daughter Destiny slept over after a "fiesta" birthday party. (R. at 404) (RE 8). Next came Robert, who Melissa was also engaged to marry; the relationship lasted five or six months. (R. at 404) (RE 8). Melissa then briefly dated a man named James for approximately one month; she admitted staying the night at his apartment but denied a sexual relationship. (R. at 405 (RE 9); Tr. V, 622.)

In late May of 2006, she began seeing "T-Bone." By June of the same year, Melissa and T-Bone slept together, alone, in a tent while on a camping trip in which Hannah, Destiny, and T-Bone's children were present; but Melissa denied that anything sexual happened that night. (R. at 405) (RE 9). The chancellor's take on the facts at this point is confusing; he acknowledges that "[Melissa] did acknowledge that she has spent the night in [T-Bone's] home and that Hannah has spent the night in his home" (R. at 405) (RE 9) but later recites that "[Melissa] further denied that she had stayed the night with any male while Hannah was present after November 18, 2005, except for the camping trip." (R. at 406) (RE 74). Melissa admitted that at the time of trial she was staying every other weekend with T-Bone, when Hannah was with Brad, 5 and that the dog she got for the children is kept at T-Bone's house (Tr. V, 703).

The evidence at trial establishes beyond a preponderance of the evidence that Melissa's improper relationships with these men adversely affected Hannah. At trial, Melissa admitted that it was not in Hannah's best interest to see her with so many men (Tr. V, 627) and that she was

⁴ T-Bone's real name is James Allen, not to be confused with the other James Melissa dated. (R. at 405) (RE 9).

⁵ The lower court considered it irrelevant what Destiny, Melissa's other daughter, was exposed to during Melissa's relationships with these various men. (Tr. IV, 575, see also Tr. II, 258-59.) This is very unfortunate, as the trial court later opined that "[Melissa] recognizes that she should not expose Hannah to any inappropriate relationship with a male person." (R. at 434 (emphasis added)) (RE 27).

not setting a good example for her daughter (Tr. V, 628). But Mississippi law holds that "the relationships or indiscretions of the mother are never enough by themselves to constitute a material change of circumstances." Forsythe v. Ackers, 768 So. 2d 943 ¶ 11 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added) (citing Kavanaugh v. Carraway, 435 So. 2d 697, 700 (Miss. 1983)). In such cases, an adverse effect upon the child must be shown, beyond the mere indiscretions. *Id.* At trial, it was shown well beyond a preponderance of the evidence that Melissa's indiscretions had additional adverse effects on Hannah.

The first is Melissa's relationship with her stepbrother, Rod. This, in and of itself, is perhaps no great additional harm to Hannah, but Mississippi law requires adverse effects upon the child to be considered in the totality of the circumstances. Forsythe, 768 So. 2d at ¶ 11. The fact that Melissa engaged in an incestuous sexual relationship certainly speaks to a want of moral fitness, a factor that our courts must consider in the totality of the circumstances. Id. Now, it may be argued that Melissa's sexual relationship with her stepbrother is a lesser form of incest because the two are not related by blood, and a marriage between them would not be subject to criminal punishment by the law of this state. See Miss. Code Ann. § 93-1-1 (2007). However, neither argument stands up to scrutiny. First, incest is distinct from inbreeding; Mississippi law in fact prohibits numerous incestuous marriages where no blood relation exists— for example, marriages between a father and his son's widow, or his wife's daughter, are void and subject to criminal punishment. Id. Furthermore, incest is a social construct, as well as a legal one; and all things that are as immoral are not necessarily illegal. Sexual relationships between step-siblings have often been regarded as immoral in our society and in our traditions. Furthermore, Melissa's willingness to enter a sexual relationship with her stepbrother sets a poor example for her

⁶ Certainly, these are not the only adverse effects Hannah suffered as a result of her mother's unstable home; others not related, or peripherally related, to Melissa's indiscretions will be discussed as well, below.

daughter, especially since some of Melissa's male companions, such as T-Bone, who she was seeing at the time of trial, have had children of their own.

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