### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRADLEY J. SUDDUTH	APPELLANT	
vs.	NO. 2007-CA-00575	
MELISSA MOWDY (Allen)	APPELLEE	
On Appeal from the Chancery Court of the Twelfth Ch Lauderdale County, Mississippi	ancery Court District,	
BRIEF OF APPELLEE, MELISSA MOWDY (Allen)		
(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUEST	 ΓED)	

JAMES C. MAYO

Fair & Mayo, Audineys P. O. Box 509 Louisville, MS 39339 662-773-3455 662-773-7661 (Facsimile) ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE MELISSA MOWDY (Allen)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRADLEY J. SUDDUTH

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-00575

MELISSA MOWDY (Allen)

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The learned Chancellor and trier of the facts carefully recites the procedural history and facts introduced at trial in his opinion, dated February 2, 2007 (RE 78 thru RE 135). Such facts recited by the Court are herein incorporated by Appellee *in toto*.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trier of the fact in the Court below carefully and correctly summarized each and every point of attack by Appellant on the life and conduct of Appellee in being the custodial parent of the minor child of the Parties, Hannah Sudduth. In determining what is in the best interest of the minor and to whether or not a change in custody was warranted; the Court being supported by substantial evidence and applying applicable law determined providently that Appellee was entitled to the continued custody of Hannah. The trial Court opined the Appellant failed to prove by the evidence that such material changes, if any, had an adverse effect on the child, Hannah Sudduth, which is a summary of Appellee's argument.

The Court is given great deference in deciding whether to grant a new trial. The facts in this case justify the denial of the Rule 59 Motion filed by Appellant. A denial of a motion for new trial will not be reversed unless there was substantial abuse of discretion such as when the decision was contrary to the weight of the evidence or it was the result of bias, passion or prejudice. Nothing in this record supports the granting of the Motion.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW BY THIS COURT IN THE CASE AT BAR IS "UNLESS THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED HIS DISCRETION, OR APPLIED AN IMPROPER LEGAL STANDARD" THEN SUCH DECISION SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED. Denson v. George, 642 So2d 909,913 (Miss.1994)

#### POINT OF ERROR ONE

Appellant argues Hannah was adversely affected by (1) an unstable home, (2) inappropriate relationships, (3) dental problems, (4) administering an inappropriate drug, and (5) inability to provide care for twenty (20) months, (*res judicata*, Civil Action No. 05-768M, MB 651, Page 507, 12<sup>th</sup> August, 2005).

Appellee submits to this Court that all incidents of unstable home, inappropriate relationships, dental problems, inappropriate drugs, failure to provide care urged by Appellant for the most part occurred prior to August 12, 2005, the date of the entry by the Court of its Bench Opinion and Judgment in Civil Action No. 05-768M (RE-131). The Court in this Judgment awarded the continued custody of Hannah to Appellee and in said opinion of August 12, 2005 recites:

"The Court does find that the Defendant (Appellant herein) has failed to affirmatively prove that the custodial parent is otherwise unfit to continue to exercise custody over Hannah Sudduth." (RE-134)

The relationship with Rod, allegedly occurred in 2000; Ray Beaudin, 2002; Julio, 2004; Robert, March 2005 (RE 279). All of these incidents occurred prior to the finding and adjudication by the Court on August 12, 2005 in the habeas decision. The conduct of Appellee,

both before and after August 12, 2005, does not warrant a custody change and by the Trial Court in this cause was properly denied.

Appellee dated James in February 2006, but no proof or admittance of wrongful behavior (RE-9). Appellant next refers to Appellee's courtship with "T-Bone", whose real name is James Allen. Once again the record fails to reveal any inapropriate behavior by Appellee with James Allen. (RE-9)<sup>1</sup>

Appellee argues to the Court that Appellant's reliance on events occurring prior to September 12, 2005 is *res judicata* (emphasis added). No appeal was taken by Appellant from this separate opinion and judgment in Cause No. 05-768M.

None the less, the Court considered all the relevant contentions of Appellant, since 2000, and carefully summarized all, and recites:

"The indiscretion of Appellee are not ignored, but the evidence does not develop that her indiscretions have adversely affected Hannah." (RE-118)

The Trial Court further recites:

"(The Court) has considered the evidence relevant to the environment provided by the (Appellee) as the custodial parent of Hannah. This Court finds that the (Appellant) has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the custodial environment by the 'Appellee' for Hannah is adverse to the welfare and best interest of Hannah." (RE-118)

The lower Court denied the custody modification.

The trier of fact summarized principles of law relevant to child custody modification actions quite thoroughly (same will be referred to and adopted herein by Appellee) (RE-108 thru RE-116) The two prerequisites to modification:

4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>James Allen and Melissa Mowdy, Appellee, were married February 13, 2007 after an eleven (11) month courtship and now reside with Hannah in their home.

- 1. Material change in circumstances which <u>adversely</u> (emphasis added) affects the welfare of the child;
- 2. If such adverse change has been shown, moving party must show by like evidence that the best interest of the child requires change of custody.

The Supreme Court of Mississippi in Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So2d 1294 (Miss. 1984) P

1297:

"The rules of law applicable to cases such as these are well-settled. A decree for child custody shall not be modified so as to change custody from one parent to the other unless, subsequent to the original decree, there has been a material change in circumstances under which the child is living with the custodial parent which adversely affects the child's welfare. *Denney v. Denney*, 453 So2d 693, 694 (Miss.1984); *Kavanaugh v. Carraway*, 435 So2d 697, 700 (Miss.1983); *Cheek v. Ricker*, 431 So2d 1139, 1143 (Miss.1983); *O'Neal v. Warden*, 345 So2d 610 (Miss.1977).

The sort of change which would indicate the desirability of a change of custody, legally speaking, is one in the overall living conditions in which the child is found. The "totality of the circumstances" must be considered. *Kavanaugh v. Carraway*, 435 So2d at 700. An isolated incident, e.g. an unwarranted striking of a child, does not in and of itself justify a change of custody. Before custody should be changed the chancellor should find that the overall circumstances in which a child lives have materially changed and are likely to remain materially changed for the foreseeable future and, of course, that such a change adversely impacts upon the child.

Even though the chancellor finds a material adverse change in circumstances, a change in custody is not automatic. The finding is merely the first step, the one which then authorizes and indeed challenges the chancellor to then go forward and determine whether the best interests of the child justify a change of custody.

In this context, we would reiterate what this Court said in *Bowden v. Fayard*, 355 So2d 662 (Miss.1978):

"Once the Court has determined which parent should have custody of the children, then they should be allowed the stabilizing influence of knowing where home is." 355 So2d at 664.

As Justice Hawkins has reminded us in *Ballard v. Ballard*, 434 So2d 1357 (Miss.1983), a change in custody is a "jolting, traumatic experience. It is only that behavior of a parent which clearly posits or causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of a child (whether such behavior is immoral or not), which is sufficient basis to seriously consider the drastic legal action of changing custody." 434 So2d at 1360.

Accordingly, even though the court finds that a material change n circumstances has occurred and that this change in circumstances adversely affects the child, the court must then ask the second question, is it in the best interests of the child to change custody, for in the final analysis the best interest and welfare of the child are always our polestar considerations. *Denney v. Denney*, 453 So2d 693, 694 (Miss.1984); *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss.1983); *Buntyn v. Smallwood*, 412 So2d 236, 2387 (Miss.1982).

In Phillips v. Phillips, 555 So2d 698 (Miss. 1986), P 699, 701, the Court held:

"The thrust of the testimony to support the change in custody was that Mrs. Phillips had a romantic and sexual relationship with Mr. Coe. The record is limited in regard to the best interest of young Justin. The trial proceeded as though the question was whether the custodial parent's sexual relations with a third person outside of marriage warranted modification of the child custody order. Such a relationship by itself does not.

The Chancellor must not only look to the well-being of a child in his present custodial circumstance, but he must note with attention to specifics the environment and conditions pertaining to the child in the future."

A case analogous to this cause where in Appellant relies heavily on the twenty (20) months Hannah lived with Appellant (though previously adjudicated by the Court in the *habeas* decision September 11, 2005), is *Arnold v. Conwell*, 562 So2d 97 (Miss.1990); the Court considered a case where the child was with the non-custodial parent for eighteen (18) months and the custodial mother resumed full custody. The trial court granted custody to father but the Supreme Court reversed and stated:

"In his opinion, the chancellor relies inversely upon the rule for modification of a child custody decree. For instance, he stated that the divorce is not an issue; that the child has already been adversely affected in that sense; and that the child is not going to be able to live with both natural parents in a family unit but that he has lived with his father for the last sixteen months in a family unit. Without question, the chancellor was looking toward what he considered to be in the best interest of Johnathan. He attempted to apply the law for the best interest of the child.

......The only change of circumstances, upon which appellee can rely, and which the Court accepted, was the fact the father had custody for sixteen months while the appellant, mother, had liberal visitation with the child.

Simply, the facts of this case do not reflect a material change in circumstances of the parties and the child, which adversely affected John, to the extent that his custody should be granted from appellant to appellee. Neither did the motion so charge nor the chancellor so find. We recognize that in some cases and under some circumstances, which we do not find here, there may be exceptions to this hard and difficult rule."

The learned chancellor in this case carefully and meticulously (53 pages) outlined and reviewed all evidence and applied existing law finally holding that "(Appellant) has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence a material change in circumstances subsequent to September 20, 2000, that are adverse to the welfare of Hannah Sudduth" RE 188. The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion and applied the proper legal standards in denying the custody change. The best interest of Hannah Sudduth was served by the ruling of the trial court.

#### POINT OF ERROR TWO

The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's Rule 59 Motion. The record is wholly void of any evidence that would produce a different result or was relevant to the issues to warrant re-litigation.

The Court on March 9, 2007 (RE 39-41) properly denied (Appellant's) Rule 59 Motion.

The Supreme Court in Oden v. Roberts, 606 So2d 114 (Miss.1992) recites:

"The court is given great deference in deciding whether to grant a new trial. The Supreme Court will not reverse an award of damages if the jury verdict is

supported by substantial evidence, the award is not so large or inadequate to shock the conscience of the Court, or the award is not the result of prejudice, bias or passion. 59(a)"

In W. J. Runyon & Son, Inc. v. Davis, 605 So2d 38 (Miss. 1992):

"A denial of a motion for a new trial will be reversed unless there was a substantial abuse of discretion such as when the verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence or it was the result of bias, passion or prejudice."

This cause over the past years has been litigated and re-litigated. The Chancellor, as trier of the fact and observant of all witnesses, acting in the best interest of Hannah Sudduth, did not abuse his discretion in the denial of the Rule 59 Motion.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The lower Court was correct in continuing the custody of Hannah Sudduth with her mother, and denying the Rule 59 Motion; the Chancellor did not abuse his discretion. The judgment of the lower Court by this Honorable Court should be affirmed.